
The story of  one of Bath`s most historic buildings  compiled by Neil Mattingly

CHARLOTTE`S TOWN HOUSE. 21 CHARLOTTE ST. BATH.
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Introduction
Charlotteôs Town House at no. 21 Charlotte Street is nearly 150 years old and has a fascinating history which I hope to 

uncover on the following pages. It was built in 1871 at the height of the Victorian Era in Bath. It was one of the last houses 

to be constructed along the Street. The first were those on the opposite side which have a distinctive Georgian 

appearance to them from 1839. These were designed by the famous Bath Architect, George Manners. It would seem that 

he intended to repeat them on the other side and three of these were built at either end. Time or money must have run out 

as it wasnôt to befinished until thirty years later when local builder, Thomas Shackell filled the gap with distinctively 

Victorian style bow fronted dwellings.

The earlier history of the site on which the Street was to be built is worth considering. The field on which it was to rise 

formed part of the large Barton Farm which stretched to its farmhouse where the rear of Jollyôs department store is today. 

John Wood had leased the first of the fields that constituted in 1729 from Robert Gay to begin his Queens Square 

development. With his son, John, they went on to create Gay Street, the Circus and The Royal Crescent and surrounding 

streets. This western expansion of the city continued after them and by the beginning of the 19th century there was a need 

to connect the north west corner of Queens Square with the Upper Bristol Road which had become the main commercial 

route. After the death of Robert Gay in 1738 the estate went to the Rivers family and passed through the generations until 

its final sale of ground rents in 1920. It was from Lady Charlotte Rivers, the wife of Sir Henry Rivers that the Street was to 

named. Work began in 1839 from the western end on a terrace of eleven houses to culminate in two fine buildings. The 

first of these was Bath Savings Bank by George Alexander in 1841 in neo-Italian high renaissance style. and the second 

the Moravian Chapel designed by James Wilson in 1844 in Roman revival style. It wasnôt until 1854 that the Percy Chapel 

designed by Goodridge and Son was to rise on the opposite side.

At the rear of Charlotte Street were a large group of workshops and storage that fronted Monmouth Place. Among these 

was that of the builder Thomas Shackell at no.19. He had moved there in 1853, when he was 25. He paid £20 to Sir 

James Francis Rivers for a house with workshops on a 21 year lease. In a later advert in the Bath Chronicle, he describes 

himself as a Builder, Carpenter, Undertaker and General Contractor. He also was able to supply plans for ñbuildings in all 

its various branchesò. He had earlier been in partnership with a Mr. Care and this was dissolved in 1853.

In 1856 he married Jane Stone and they went on to have seven children. The 1861 Census shows him as a master 

carpenter and builder at the same address. He continued to prosper and in the next census was shown as employing 10 

men and 2 boys. In March of that year, he leased the adjoining plot to his house in Monmouth Place from John Inman, the 

Executor for the Rivers family for £22 a year. On this he buildt himself a workshop and houses, the designs of which are 

still to be seen in Bath Record Office. He later goes on to lease the remaining land that fronts Charlotte Street from the 

Rivers Estate and designed and built eight houses(15 - 21) on it during the same year.

It is sad to read that after all the time and effort in building the houses he lost financially and was declared bankrupt in 

1873. In August of that year there is an auction of everything that he owned including his home and workshops. He was 

shown as living at Charlotte House (22) on the corner. He had let all the other houses on Charlotte Street from £17 to £37 

a year rent. There was also another property, no. 32 Belvedere that was included in the Auction.
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Thomas next move was away from Bath to Weston Super Mare, where at the age of 46 he took on the lease of the Bath 

Arms Inn with his wife, Jane. That is not the end of the story as he later returned back to his roots to his father's home : 

Crundale House, Prior Park Road, which is where he was living at the time of his death in 1904, aged 76.

The 1873 Rates for 21 Charlotte Street has Francis Edmund Potts briefly renting from Thomas Shackell who was living 

at 22 until the lease was sold in the Auction. He was a Chemist based at 18-19 Northumberland Place, off the High 

Street in Bath. He first appeared there in 1858, when he was living at Sydenham Villa, Lower Bristol Road. Francis was 

a regular advertiser in the Bath Chronicle and promoted ranges of Patent Medicines and Horniman's Pure Tea. He also 

sold his own brand of Corn Plasters with a number of endorsements of their benefits.

He only appeared to stay at 21 briefly until selling it to the Rev. Francis Edmund Cheshire in 1876. This gentleman was 

the incumbent at St. Marksôs Church, Wyke in Surrey from 1850 until 1877. He then retired to Bath with his wife and 

lived at 21 Charlotte Street where he prepared students for Public Schools and University Exams. He regularly 

advertised in the Bath Chronicle until his death in 1885. His wife continued to live at the address until she died in 1885. 

Both were buried at his former church at Wyke.

In 1890 Fraulein Emmy Meyhofer advertised for students to teach them German. She was staying as a lodger with 

William Britton Salisbury who the following year appeared in the census as a Clerk of Works, aged 56. His wife Mary 

was aged 39 and they had four young children living with them. They originated from Newbury where he was a Master 

Builder. In 1890 Edwin Wise was also shown at the address. He was a Wardrobe Dealer running his business at the 

rear of the house. The 1901 Census reveals that the house was occupied by a wealthy spinster, Mary Agnes 

Murgatroyd, who was aged 71 in that year. She was the former landlady of the Queens Square Tavern until 1882 when 

she retired. Directories show that Edwin Wise was still running his business from the address until 1910. The following 

year Miss Rosa Tice, aged 60 described as a Dressmaker and Lodging House Keeper lived there with her friend, Miss 

C. Skuse . Rosa was to reside there for nearly thirty years and was 92 when she died in 1939.

During the Second World War the house was taken over  by the government and there were up to 15 men shown living 

there at that time. Afterwards Guy Phelps appears in the Rate Books as occupying it with five other people. In 1955 

Harry and Nellie Creasey moved from Battle in Sussex to Bath and are shown living at 21 Charlotte Street. When he 

dies in 1961, aged 66, his wife remains at the property until it was sold in 1967 to Phyllis Cernajeves. She was born 

Phyllis Vera Hodge in 1925 and it was in 1957 that she married in Chippenham, Janis Cernajevs who originated from 

Latvia. They had a son, Alexander Nickoli who was born in 1964. The family were to occupy the house for nearly 50 

years. After Janis died in 1996, his wife continued to live there until her own death in 2016, aged 91. Her son Alexander 

inherited the house and was to die tragically in 2018, aged just 54.

The following year the property was sold to Paul and Daria Mattingly who renovated the house and renamed it 

Charlotteôs Town House. Neil Mattingly



Owners and Occupiers of 21 Charlotte Street in Bath



The Rivers family ïOwners of Charlotte Street from 1839 until they sold it in 1870. 
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Although Charlottes Street  was not built until 1839, the land it stood on has an 

interesting history which I have briefly summarised here. It was originally part of the 

Barton Farm of Bath, which belonged to the Crown, but was held by the Priory of the 

Monastic Grange from the mid 13th century. The Estate passed through several hands 

over the years. In 1591 the Colhurst family who owned it at that time sold it to Sir George 

Snigge who passed it on to his son. He in turn assigned it to his sister, Mary Jackson. It 

was later passé on to the Saunders family. The estate was settled on Robert Gay in 

1699 on his marriage to Mary Saunders. Robert Gay was a Surgeon of London and Bath 

and later served as M.P. For Bath. Mary died in 1708 and Robert remarried Margaret 

Farmer. Upon his death in 1737 he left his estate to his daughter, Margaret Gay who 

married Thomas Garrard the following year. Dying in 1774 with no children Margaret 

Garrard bequeathed her estate to her brother-in-law Sir Benet Garrard with a request to 

convey the estate to Sir Peter Rivers, contingent on him taking the name of Gay. Sir 

Benet Garrard died in 1767 leaving in his Will the Walcot estate to Sir Peter Rivers. The 

estate was to pass through the family over a number of generations as shown here until 

a major part including Wood Street was finally sold by them in 1920.

Sir Peter Rivers inherited the Baronetcy upon the death of his brother Sir John in 1743. 

Both Sir Peter and his younger son Henry, later Sir Henry, became Reverends at 

Winchester Cathedral, where many of the family were also buried.

Upon Sir Peter Rivers Gay's death in 1790 the estate passed to Sir Thomas Rivers Gay 

eldest son of Sir Peter with Martha Coxe, daughter of William Coxe of London. Sir 

Thomas, dying in 1805 with no children, bequeathed the estate to his mother Dame 

Martha Rivers Gay, who managed the estate until 1834 when she settled it on the then 

Sir Henry Rivers, her younger son, before dying shortly thereafter in 1835. Upon his 

death in 1851 the estate passed to his eldest surviving son Sir James Francis Rivers.

At the time of Sir Henry Rivers' death, the estate was mortgaged to its greatest extent, 

Sir James Francis Rivers married Catherine Eastcott a Widow, of Bath, in 1867 but died 

childless in 1869, the estate passed to his only surviving brother Sir Henry Chandos 

Rivers who then died a year later in 1870 also childless; with no male heir the Baronetcy 

was therefore extinguished.

The estate was bequeathed, in trust, by Sir Henry Chandos Rivers to Thomas Frederick 

Inman, a solicitor of Bath, who then managed the estate as a trustee on behalf of Sir 

Henry Chandos Rivers' surviving sisters and their children until 1903 when the 

trusteeship was passed to Henry Mills Skrine and the Rev. Prebendary Benjamin Norton 

Thompson. From the early 20th Century the estate began to be sold, with Sale auctions 

known to have been held in 1908, 1919, and 1920; the final parts of the estate that still 

belonged to descendants of Sir Henry Chandos' sisters are believed to have been sold 

in the 1980s.

Rev. Sir Peter

Rivers Gay

RIVERS
FAMILY 
TREE



Early Images of the Barton Farm field on which Charlotte Street was to be created.

Bristol Road and fields on which Charlotte Street was to be 

built in a view of Bath by Harvey Wood in 1824.
Bristol Road and field on which Charlotte Street was to be 

built from a map of Walcot by Thomas Thorpe in 1740.

Bristol Road and field on which Charlotte Street was to be 

built from a map of Bath  by Savile in 1600.

Bristol Road and field on which Charlotte Street was to be 

built from a map of Bath by Gilmore in 1690.



A 1795  Map of  Bath showing area where Charlotte Street would be built.

This detailed map of Bath in 1795 by Harcourt Masters shows a number of workshops, barns and gardens along 

the Bristol Road in that year. Some of these would disappear when Charlotte Street was cut through. 



A 1835  Map of  Bath showing first buildings in Charlotte Street. 

This map dating back to 1835 reveals the first of the houses that were to be built along Charlotte Street.



An 1845  Map of  Bath showing Charlotte Street with Chapel and Savings Bank. 

This map dating back to 1845 reveals the terrace of houses that had been built on the north side of the Street. By then 

The Bath Savings Bank was established in 1841 and the Moravian Chapel in 1844. 



George Manners original plans for Charlotte Street dating from 1833

Bath record Office has a number ofdeeds from the Rivers Estate (0810) relating to Charlotte Street. Many of the properties that 
were built have plans, some of which are shown here. The earliest is dated 13th April 1833 for Charlotte Street House (no.22)
and the last for 1848. They are signed by George Manners who later went on to design many of them.



Messrs English and son beg to make known that they will sell by auction by order of the 

Mortgagee without any reservation, at the Rooms, Milsom Street,On Saturday, March 

4th at one for two oô clock precisely,

That freehold message and premises, being no. 16, on the West side of Charlotte 

Street, with Garden in the rear, subject to a ground rent of £5 per annum,That freehold 

message and premises adjoining, being no. 15, Charlotte Street, subject to a ground 

rent of £2 per annum.

Charlotte Street is a leading thoroughfare from the Bristol Road to Queen Square, and 

the whole of the upper part of the City, and is designed to harmonise with the elegant 

buildings in its vicinity

The above Residences have therefore a frontage of unexceptional neat, uniform with 

which the whole street will be built, with the exception of Public Buildings, such as the 

Savings Bank already completed, which forms a striking feature.

It is expected that very shortly the street will be completed, and as a situation for 

Residence, or for any Genteel Trade it will be every way desirable, being closely 

adjacent to the Victoria Park, in the centre of a dense population, and within five minutes 

walk of the centre of the city.

The above houses are internally commodious ( especially no. 16, which is the largest), 

having every accommodation of which modern improvements are capable, are 

exceedingly well built, and finished in a superior manner.

Also, a small Tenement, adjoining no. 15, which, with an imposing Shop Frontage, 

facing, by its angular position, both Charlotte Street and the Bristol Road, in the 

occupation of Mr.Sargeant, Saddler.

Adjoining the above Tenement is a small cottage in the rear, with three stables, 

affording accommodation for fifteen or twenty horses, together with other Buildings and 

Offices, extensive Shed and Forge, Yard, and Garden, extending to a depth of about 

300 feet, well fenced, and enclosed with high gates.

Theses Premises are held for a term of which 16 years are unexpired, at the rent of £20 

per annum.

May be viewed by the kind permission of the Tenants. All particulars may be known of 

messrs English and Son or Mr. Hayman, Solicitor, Harrington Place, Queen Square. 23 

February 1843 - Bath Chronicle

The Auction of nos. 15 and 16 Charlotte Street, Cottage and Stabling in 1843

The description of nos. 15 and 16 match the building that was later 

renamed 22 Charlotte street. The shop was in the occupation of Mr. 

Sargent as a Sadler in the 1841 Census. The buildings and offices at the 

rear would eventually be taken over by Thomas Shackell, who was to 
build no. 22 Charlotte Street at the front.



Charlotte Street House (22 Charlotte Street) was designed by George Manners in 1833
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Below is the plan of no. 22 Charlotte Street which adjoins no 21 

(Charlotte`s Town House) today. The original Indenture is dated 

13th April 1833 when Dame Martha Rivers Gay, of Winchester, Lady 

of the Manor of Walcot. Gives James Ridewood of Bath, Mason

and 3. George Ripley, of Bath, Plumber a plot of land, bounded on 

the southwest by the road leading from Bath to Bristol, on the 

north by the new intended street to be called Charlotte 
Street.(B&NES Record Office - 0810/2/1)

The original plan for no. 

22 Charlotte Street by 

George Manners 

compared with plan of 
1888 below.



22 Charlotte Street

1871 Census has William Eades Marble / Stone Mason as living 

at No. 22 Charlotte Street, known as Charlotte Street House. 

19 November 1857 bath Chronicle

In 1851 William Fisher is in Charlotte Street House now 

called Queens Square Place he is described as a Slater and 

Plasterer employing 10 men  his son Charles  is a Grocer on 

the premises.  

22
21

IF YOU WANT A BRILLIANT LIGHT AT A SMALL COST 

PURCHASE ONE OF E WART'S IMPROVED PARAFFIN 

AND PHOTO GENE LAMPS, 

At E. DAVISôS 

TEA. GROCERY, PROVISION WAREHOUSE,

CHARLOTTE STREET HOUSE, CHARLOTTE STREET, 

BATH.

LAMPS FROM 2s. 6d. EACH. OIL 4s. PER GALLON. 

MANUFACTORY, 346, EUSTON ROAD, LONDON 13 

January 1859 - Bath Chronicle

No 22 Charlotte Street stands out against its neighbours as its 

appearance and height are very different. The records show that 

it may have been the first that was built as the original plans by 

George Manners date back to 1833. Its original use was for a 

Saddlers with a shop on the ground floor whose original window 

can still be seen on the side.



Charlotte Street Terrace designed by George Phillips Manners in 1839.



1841 Census for those buildings complete in that year in Charlotte Street. 

Charlotte Street appears on the 1841 Census. Amongst the wealthy are a number of traders as follows:

William Holyoak - Baker, Edward Hale - Carpenter, William Hyde- Cabinet Maker, Henry Dark - Tailor, John Kerslake - Plumber, 

Esther Franks - Pork Butcher, James Scott - Linen Draper, George Sargeant - Saddler. John Smith - Wool and Cloth Merchant.



Bath Savings Bank designed by George Alexander. Built in 1841



Moravian Chapel, Charlotte Street ïJames Wilson Architect built in  1845



Moravian Chapel and Bath Savings Bank in Charlotte Street. 



The Rivers family had mortgaged their large Walcot Estate over the years 

and after the death of Sir Henry Chandos Rivers in 1870, their solicitor, 

Thomas Inman auctioned a number of these off to reduce their debt. He 

managed the estate as a trustee on behalf of the surviving sisters and their 

children until 1903. On October 31st there was an auction held by Mr. 

Rainey where a number were sold including those in Charlotte Street. A 

copy of the catalogue has survived in the Bath Record Office and is 

displayed here which gives important information on the tenants and 

owners of properties. The accompanying plan provides a snapshot of 

completed houses in that year before Thomas Shackell was to complete it 

with nos.15 to 21 the following year. It is interesting to see that no. 22 was 

called Charlotte Street House at that time and was owned by Mr. G. 

Edwards and Mr. Morgan Eades who ran his Grocers shop there. 



The  1870 Auction Map showing the first stage of buildings in Charlotte Street. 


